
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2010-0354

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:


	Motion Hearing
March 10, 2011
Paul Sommerville
Ken Quesnelle
	Presiding Member

Member


EB-2010-01354
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, (Schedule B);
AND IN THE MATTER OF a motion by Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited requesting the Board to review and vary certain aspects of its Decision EB-2010-0193 dated October 29, 2010. 
AND IN THE MATTER OF Rules 42, 44.01 and 45.01 of the Board’s Rules of Practice and Procedure.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, March 10th, 2011,

commencing at 9:34 a.m.
--------------------

MOTION HEARING
--------------------


BEFORE:


PAUL SOMMERVILLE

Presiding Member



KEN QUESNELLE


Member
MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel
MARTIN DAVIES
Board Staff

MARK RODGER
Toronto Hydro-Electric System

JOHN VELLONE
Limited
JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
MARK RUBENSTEIN

ALSO PRESENT:
COLIN McLORG 
Toronto Hydro-Electric System

PANKAJ SARDANA 
Limited

JEAN-SEBASTIEN 
COUILLARD
1--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.


1Appearances


2Submissions by Mr. Rodger


33Submissions by Mr. Millar


41Submissions by Mr. Shepherd


45--- Recess taken at 10:48 a.m.


45--- On resuming at 11:09 a.m.


46Further Submissions by Mr. Rodger


53--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:25 a.m.




2EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF TORONTO HYDRO.




NO undertakings were filed during this Proceeding
No table of figures entries found.


Thursday, March 10, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board has convened this morning in the matter of a motion to review brought by the Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited.  The motion for review seeks variances in the Board's decision in EB-2010-0193.  It is referred to in the documents in this case as the "Recovery Decision".

In addition to the motion itself, the Board has received written submissions from Board Staff, School Energy Coalition, and Energy Probe, although Energy Probe's submissions were restricted to the question of the form of hearing.

Today we will hear oral submissions from the parties and Board Staff.  Can I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger appearing as counsel to Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited, and with me is my colleague, Mr. John Vellone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning.  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition, and with me is a student in my office, Mark Rubenstein.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Sommerville, Mr. Quesnelle.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined by Martin Davies.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any preliminary matters?

Mr. Rodger, are you prepared to proceed? 

MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir, I am.  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, Toronto Hydro is here today to review and vary the Board's October 29th, 2010 decision in the EB-2010-0193 contact voltage recovery proceeding, and I will refer to this decision throughout in my submissions this morning as the "Recovery Decision".

Now, for the Board's convenience, I have put together a document brief, which I shall refer to.  Perhaps that could be handed up to the Panel, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We will mark that as an exhibit, K1.1.  It is the document brief of Toronto Hydro.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF TORONTO HYDRO.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.

Panel, what Toronto Hydro seeks in this motion is an order of the Board rescinding the Recovery Panel's findings at pages 8 to 10 of the Recovery Decision that certain residual contact voltage costs were caused by the contact voltage situation and that those costs are, therefore, ineligible for inclusion in 2009 actual controllable expenses, and that consequently the contact voltage costs allowable for recovery in rates be reduced from $8.586 million to 5.296 million.

As you will hear later, in our view, there is no basis in the Recovery Decision for the causation test that the Recovery Panel imposed, no basis in the Prudence Decision, which was the December 11th, 2009 decision, which was the original decision, and, for the record, that was 
EB-2009-0243.

This motion raises a question of fundamental importance to Toronto Hydro and the Board, as a quasi-judicial regulatory body.  The issue, simply put, is the predictability and certainty of Board decisions.

Distributors such as Toronto Hydro expect, and they in fact rely on, predictability and certainty from the regulator to manage the distribution system for the benefit of its ratepayers.

With this motion, we are seeking a finding that the actual residual contract voltage costs in their entirety, the 8.56 million, are eligible for inclusion in controllable expenses pursuant to the implementation mechanism specified in the Prudence Decision.  Again, that was of December 11th, 2009.

In deciding this motion, the Board will need to consider and address how the Recovery Panel gave effect and implemented the previous Prudence Decision in this matter.

Now, in doing so, Toronto Hydro submits that the Board should be guided by the following four principles.

First, the Board should strive to give effect to the original intent of the Prudence Decision, taking into account the ordinary and well-understood meaning of the words in that decision, and later I will refer you to a Supreme Court of Canada decision which I believe is relevant.

Secondly, the Board should strive to provide predictability and certainty for market participants when implementing the prior Prudence Decision.

Thirdly, the Board should avoid interfering with a utility management's legitimate discretion to reallocate its spending to respond to urgent new priorities that unexpectedly and can inevitably arise over the course of any given rate year.

And, finally, the Board should avoid indirect retroactive rate making, such as indirectly opening -- reopening the prudence of actual 2009 OM&A spending, which is effectively what has happened in the Recovery Decision.

Now, Toronto Hydro brings this motion pursuant to the Board's authority under sections 21.2 and 21.5 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act and pursuant to Rules 42, 44 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

One question the Board will consider in hearing this motion is whether Toronto Hydro has met the Board's threshold test for bringing a motion to review.  Toronto Hydro submits, and both Board Staff and the School Energy Coalition agree in their written submissions, that the Board's threshold test has been met on this motion.

For the reasons that will follow, we respectfully submit that the findings of the Recovery Decision that are the subject of this motion raise a question as to the correctness of the Recovery Decision on the following two grounds.

First, mixed error of fact and law:  The Recovery Decision makes a mixed error of fact and law by misapplying the Prudence Decision and failing to include the $2.5 million in non-scanning residual contact voltage costs in 2009 controllable expenses; and, secondly, an error in fact.  The Recovery Decision makes an error in fact when it added an extra 0.79 million to the 2.5 million to come up with a total of $3.29 million that should be deducted from recovery, which, as you will hear later, we reject outright.

Now, as the Board reviews the substance of the motion and these submissions, Toronto Hydro submits that these issues should result in the Board deciding that the Recovery Decision should be varied.

Now, before I speak to the details of the motion, I think it is relevant and important to briefly summarize the background contact voltage situation that provides the necessary context of what has brought us here in the motion today.

On November 20th, 2008 and on January 13th, 2009, Toronto Hydro emergency response crews were dispatched to two separate locations in the vicinity of Keele and Annette Streets in the City of Toronto.  These incidents involved dogs that received electrical shocks from energized handwells, electrical junction boxes that are embedded into the sidewalks or other pavement, and into which wire conductors are brought and connected.

In each of these two incidents, the dogs that received the electrical shocks were killed.

On January 29th, 2008, Toronto Hydro was notified that five children received mild shocks emanating from the concrete sidewalk of the northwest corner of intersection of Gerrard Street and Sumach Street in the City of Toronto.  These children were unharmed.

It was about the same time that Toronto Hydro became aware of contact voltage incidents occurring at a discrete set of U.S. utilities, such as New York-based Consolidated Edison.

Now, contact voltage is, generally speaking, the unintended electrification of the public thoroughfare called by faults in distribution or street lighting secondary infrastructure.  To date, it has typically occurred in large urban centres with an aging underground distribution infrastructure.  An underground system is particularly at risk in the winter and early spring when melting snow, mixed with road salt, create a saline solution that is capable of carrying electrical current.

So in consideration of these events, Toronto Hydro concluded that there was a possibility of systemic faults in underground equipment which, if present, would pose an unacceptable risk to the public.

So on January 30th, 2009, Toronto Hydro declared a level 3 emergency, which is the second-highest level of system emergency.  It suspended all other non-emergency planned work on its system and deployed its own staff, street lighting crews, as well as third-party contractors on a seven-day-a-week, 24-hour-a-day basis to locate, diagnose, secure and repair to a safe condition all of the suspect equipment on the distribution and street lighting systems.

And the work included remediation activities, a systematic inspection and repair of all handwells, and detection activities by means of a proprietary remote voltage-sensing from a U.S. firm, which did most of its work at night and which would identify electrification problems that would only be apparent when lighting equipment was energized.

The work occurred mainly through February and March of 2009, although scanning continues as part of Toronto Hydro's ongoing preventive maintenance program.

Now, we jump ahead to June 30th, 2009, and Toronto Hydro applied under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, seeking approval of rate riders to recover forecast costs of 14.35 million incurred by Toronto Hydro for the emergency correction of contact voltage conditions on its system.

And it is important to note, Mr. Chairman, and to emphasize that absent that application in June, Toronto Hydro would have been expected to recover all of these contact voltage-related costs as part of its approved 2009 controllable expenses.

Similarly, if the Board had denied extraordinary cost recovery, Toronto Hydro would have been forced to completely reprioritize and reallocate its 2009 spending to account for the unforeseen contact voltage situation.

However, Toronto Hydro did apply for extraordinary cost recovery to the Board, in large part because Toronto Hydro viewed completing the planned capital program work as a very high priority, given the age and sometimes poor condition of its distribution plant.  And this theme of the need for a distribution infrastructure renewal continues to this day in the current distribution rate application that Toronto Hydro has before this Board that will be heard later this month.

So after a detailed assessment of materiality, extraneity, incrementality and prudence of these expenditures, the Board issued the Prudence Decision on December 11th, 2009, conditionally approving for extraordinary recovery $9.44 million, which was a reduction of 4.91 million from Toronto Hydro's requested relief.

But it is worth emphasizing to the Board that the reason the Board gave for excluding the 4.91 million in the Prudence Decision is because it said these amounts would have otherwise been undertaken by Toronto Hydro as part of its regular maintenance program.

In other words, the Board expressly denied extraordinary recovery of the 4.91 million in large part because these amounts would have been included as part of Toronto Hydro's 2009 approved revenue requirement.

And if I could refer you, Panel, to page 11 of the Prudence Decision which, in Exhibit A.11, is behind tab 1, and starting at the middle of the second full paragraph on page 11, I just want to read a couple of passages:
"...[A]s Energy Probe noted, some of the remediation work undertaken during the emergency would have otherwise arisen as forced outages of secondary circuits as THESL would have responded to those events as normal trouble calls and the costs would have been reflected in its 2009 revenue requirement for OM&A.  For these reasons, the Panel reduces the requested relief by a deemed amount of $2.5 million.

"The Panel further reduces the requested relief by $2.41 million in ongoing scanning costs as suggested by Energy Probe and SEC for the reason that once the emergency event was dealt with, the costs for ongoing scanning of the system cannot be characterized as emergency related.  Once the emergency was resolved and THESL made a decision to change its operating parameters of the secondary system to an inspect and maintain model, these costs were part of normal budgetary pressures that are subject to budgetary re-alignments."

So to summarize, Toronto Hydro faced extraordinary circumstances in 2009 with respect to unforeseen contact voltage conditions.  In response to these large unforeseen expenditures, Toronto Hydro applied to the Board for extraordinary cost recovery.  The Board in turn determined that a portion of the expenditures then forecast by Toronto Hydro did qualify for extraordinary recovery, having met the Board's requirements mentioned above.

In the Prudence Decision, the Board established a segregated extraordinary revenue requirement that was separate from Toronto Hydro's previously approved 2009 revenue requirement.

In other words, the Prudence Decision in effect created two separate buckets for recovery.  The first was Toronto Hydro's approved 2009 rates.  The second was the extraordinary recovery of $9.44 million.

And while the extraordinary recovery amount was separate from the previously approved 2009 revenue requirement, the Prudence Decision linked the two amounts in a manner I will describe in a minute for the express purpose of providing that there would be no double benefit to the shareholder of Toronto Hydro; in other words, so Toronto Hydro does not recoup any controllable expenses twice.

The Board explained that if, after the fact, there were funds left over from the previously approved controllable expenditures amount, those funds would be used to offset the conditionally approved extraordinary revenue requirement.

And if you go to page 9 of the Prudence Decision and the last sentence of the first full paragraph, it reads:

"The Panel is concerned that if, in fact, there is underspending in the 2009 controllable OM&A, it would confer a double benefit to the shareholder."

So bottom line is what the Prudence Decision was worried about is that Toronto Hydro should not recover money that it didn't spend.

Now, this condition was, in fact, the genesis of the recovery application, because the Board required THESL to confirm its actual controllable expenditures, apart from those approved for conditional extraordinary recovery expressly on the basis of its 2009 audited financial statements.

Again, the Prudence Decision says, at page 9:

"THESL's audited 2009 statements shall be the basis of determining the level of underspending, if any."

So given the timing of the prudence application and decision, the determination of the extraordinary revenue requirement to be recovered through rates, according to the formula established in the Prudence Decision, would have to await the actual 2009 financial results.

So I would like to underscore to the Board that, you know, had the 2009 actual OM&A information been available at the time of the Prudence Decision, then the existence or not of any leftover OM&A funds would have been apparent, and there would have been no need for a recovery decision.  It could have all been concluded at the Prudence Decision.

So the purpose, therefore, of the recovery decision was simply to apply the mechanistic adjustment established in the Prudence Decision, given Toronto Hydro's actual 2009 financial results.

What the Board did not do in the Prudence Decision was find that any of Toronto Hydro's spending was imprudent or to absolutely disallow recovery of any amounts related to contact voltage.

The Board also did not find the definition -- that the definition of controllable expenditures wouldn't somehow be changed for the purposes of the Prudence Decision, or to specifically adjust that definition for the purpose of the mechanistic adjustment arising from the recovery position that would be recovered through rates.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rodger, you have taken us to page 11 of the Prudence Decision and the paragraph that starts:

"The Panel is of the view that THESL would not have incurred overtime maintenance costs had the necessary secondary system maintenance been undertaken."

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What should we draw from that paragraph?  What is the Prudence Decision saying there?

MR. RODGER:  Let me just find it, sir.  You are on page 11?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Page 11, yes, more or less the middle paragraph.  And it is basically disallowing 2.5 million as it related to overtime costs that were considered -- as I read this, considered by the Prudence Panel to be not attributable to the emergency.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  I think in this case, this is an example where the Board is saying, These type of costs then should have been part of your standard OM&A.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. RODGER:  So we are not going to put them in the recovery -- the extraordinary bucket.  In other words, they're saying there is essentially two buckets of controllable expenditures here, one under your standard revenue requirement and another under the extraordinary.  These ones we think should have just been in your main budget.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When we get to the Recovery Decision, the Recovery Decision addresses that same issue, does it not?

MR. RODGER:  It does, but I think the way the Recovery Decision does it is, basically, impose a new test that the Prudence Decision did not simply contemplate.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, I don't mean to interrupt your submissions, but it is probably worthwhile trying to deal with this subject straight on.

If I could refer you to page 9 of The Toronto Hydro Electric System decision in 0193, the one that you are appealing or seeking a review of, and the middle paragraph there.

MR. RODGER:  What page was that again, sir?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is page 9 of the 0193 decision, which is under your tab 2.

MR. RODGER:  Yes, mm-hm.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In that finding, the Board says:
"The Board finds that the remaining $2.5 million of costs were related to the contact voltage emergency, as they included overtime costs which arose as a result of the emergency, and should be deducted.  The record indicates that a notional portion of these costs are attributable to normal remediation work that may have occurred in the absence of the contact voltage emergency.  It would not be possible to discern an accurate percentage of this category of costs that is made up by this activity.  The Board deems that the notional cost associated with the remedial work that would cause a reduction in the $2.5 million quantum is offset by the allowance of the exaggerated scanning costs explained above."


So the Board, in this section, addresses the same kind of issue, does it not?

MR. RODGER:  It does, but I think our point, sir, is that, in the Prudence Decision the number to be approved was fixed.  It was the $9.44 million, subject to the adjustment on actuals.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is it your position that it is the fixed number and not the underlying reasoning which is the subject of appeal?

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.  There shouldn't have been an opportunity in that subsequent Recovery Decision to essentially reopen the question of prudence.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Even though the question of principle with respect to whether something was directly attributable to the voltage emergency, whether it ought to have been offset by regular OM&A, that should be something that we should not consider?

MR. RODGER:  That's right, because that was all dealt with in the Prudence Decision.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am glad I understand that.  Thank you.

MR. RODGER:  So as we spelled out in our prefiled material, the grounds -- and this also speaks to the issue you raised, sir.  The grounds that we have put before you is, first of all, a mixed error in law and fact.

In our view, the Prudence Decision clearly articulates the test the Board was to use in the Recovery Decision.  And our view is that the Recovery Panel made a mixed error in fact and law by failing to properly apply that test in the Prudence Decision.

On page 9 of the Prudence Decision, or the second full paragraph, Prudence Panel decided, quote:

"The Panel therefore finds that it would be reasonable in the circumstances for any relief provided in this Decision to be conditional on THESL's actual spending in controllable OM&A expenditures for the 2009 year (ending December 31, 2009).  In the event that THESL's actual controllable OM&A expenditures are below the level reflected in THESL's 2009 approved base rates, the amount of the relief eligible for recovery found below shall be reduced by the amount of the underspending.  To emphasize, this finding is not intended to reopen the testing of the 2009 revenue requirement nor the prudence of the actual 2009 OM&A spending.
"Based on the information filed in the proceeding from THESL's 2010 rates application, the total OM&A level used to derive 2009 rates was $350.0 million.  Excluding amortizations expenses of $154.4 million, the total controllable expenses used to derive 2009 rates was $195.6 million.  Any underspending in OM&A controllable expenses below $195.6 million shall be deducted from the conditional relief found in this Decision."


And then, again, if you go to the top of page 12 of the Prudence Decision, starting at the second sentence of the top paragraph:
"Rather, the Board authorizes the Applicant to record in a sub-account of account 1572 (Extraordinary Events Costs) an amount of $9.44 million for review at a later time once the 2009 audited financial results are known and upon application by THESL to clear the balance in the sub-account.  In its application to recover the requested relief through rate riders, THESL had not incorporated interest.  In any event, until the disposition matter is brought forward by THESL there will be no interest on the $9.44 million amount."


So, in our view, it is important to note that the Board makes specific reference to the "disposition matter".  The Recovery Decision was not intended to test the prudence or incrementality of the contact voltage expenditures.  This was all already done in the Prudence Decision.

And there was no evidence on the record, in any event, that would have allowed the Recovery Decision panel to assess prudence or incrementality on the expenditures.

Instead, the Recovery Decision was intended only as a disposition matter - that is, a simple check-in - to compare THESL's actual 2009 controllable expenditures against the threshold amount of $195.6 million, which was later corrected to $195.2 million, set out in the Prudence Decision.

So it is for these reasons that we believe the Recovery Decision erred in law and fact by failing to properly apply the administrative or mechanistic test set out in the Prudence Decision and by failing to follow the Board's own well-understood definition of "controllable expenses".

Now, in this motion, sir, the Board needs to consider what the Recovery Panel did when implementing the Prudence Decision, and we submit that the fundamental error made by the Board finds its origin at the end of page 5 and the start of page 6 of the Recovery Decision.  And this is --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This might not be a good time to raise it, just another question raised in the submissions.

MR. RODGER:  Sure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That has to do with the -- what the Prudence Decision, as I gather it, determined was that the utility ought not to be compensated or ought not to get recovery in a situation where it underspent according to its OM&A budget.

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that, therefore, the amount of spending in the month of December of 2009, I guess, was the kind of moving piece, and that was $8 million that was spent in the month of December, which appeared to be a somewhat higher-than-normal amount of spending.

Now, there is an assertion in the submissions of Schools that the utility declined to provide information respecting that $8 million expenditure in the month of December, which is the -- which would be the kind of pivot point, if you like, for the recovery.

What is your response to that?  Before we get into where you think the Recovery Decision was in error, what is your response to SEC's point on that subject?  If you would like to come back to that...

MR. RODGER:  The 8 million that was raised by Schools, Toronto Hydro struggled with that, because it was Schools' assumption, but there is no basis for that.

What Toronto Hydro was required to put forward was the audited financial statements, and that is what we did.

So the way that Schools presented it, there just -- as I say, it is only an assumption on their part and it doesn't have any basis in reality.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. RODGER:  Now, this allows us to turn to the definition of controllable expenses.

Again, if you start at page 5 -- the top of page 6 of the Recovery Decision, this is where we see where the Recovery Panel talks about the appropriate recovery methodology and amount.

At the bottom of page 5, the Board states:

"Staff took the position that there were three potential approaches open to the Board to determine an appropriate level of recovery of contact voltage remediation costs by THESL based on the Decision.  These were defining actual 2009 controllable OM&A to be compared to the approved $195.2 million level in one of three ways:

(i)  including all contact voltage costs

(ii)  excluding only contact voltage costs approved for recovery in the Decision and

(iii)  excluding all contact voltage costs.  
"The Board notes that no parties disputed that these were the three alternatives available to the Board in the event that it was determined that some level of recovery was appropriate."

Now, we submit, sir, that the Board erred in making this assessment.  Toronto Hydro fundamentally disagrees and dispute Board Staff's characterization of three alternatives available to the Board.

Toronto Hydro as a regulated utility relies on a high degree of predictability and certainty from regulatory Decisions.  This is part, we suggest, of the regulatory compact.  In exchange for the obligation to provide service to all customers in the City of Toronto, Toronto Hydro is given effectively a monopoly on service, and it is permitted to recover its prudently incurred costs and earn a limited profit.

Toronto Hydro plans and manages its entire business and operations around this needed predictability and certainty in Board decisions.

The implementation of prior Board decisions cannot be somehow indirectly delegated to Board Staff to create some list of alternatives after the fact and then get the Board to select from that list, without due consideration given to the Board's key role as a quasi-judicial tribunal charged with regulating an industry that requires a high degree of predictability and certainty in Board decisions.

Instead, Toronto Hydro submits that the Board should articulate and guide its interpretation based on a set of principles.  The Board should clearly articulate what those principles are so that the regulated utility knows what tests it has to meet.

And again, the four principles that we put forward for your considerations are, firstly, the Board should strive to give effect to the original intent of the Board's decision, in this case the Board's Prudence Decision.

Second, the Board should strive to provide predictability and certainty to market participants when interpreting and implementing prior Board decisions.

Third, the Board should avoid interfering with the utility management's legitimate discretion to reallocate spending to respond to new priorities that can unexpectedly arise over the year.

And fourth, the Board should avoid indirect retroactive ratemaking, such as reopening the prudence of actual 2009 OM&A spending because such spending was caused, quote/unquote, by a contact voltage incident.

So the Board should apply these principles, in our view, in determining what the Prudence Panel meant by the term "controllable expenses."

And one way to consider this is to look at how the courts -- what principles they rely on for statutory interpretation.

And in this regard, I wanted to refer you, briefly, to one case that is included in the materials behind tab 7.

This is a Supreme Court of Canada decision of 2002, Bell ExpressVu Limited Partnership versus Rex, and a part of this case had to do with principles of statutory interpretation.

If you can turn to page 24, this is when the decision gets into the principles of statutory interpretation, and it starts by -- at the top of page 24 is an excerpt from construction of statutes, where the court says:

"Today there is only one principle or approach, namely the words of an act are to be read in their entire context and in their grammatical and ordinary sense harmoniously with the scheme of the act, the object of the act, and intention of Parliament."

Then if you go down to paragraph 27 on that same page:

"The preferred approach recognizes the important role that context must inevitably play when a court construes the written words of a statute.  As Professor John Willis consistently notes in his seminal article 'Statute Interpretation in a Nutshell', words like 'people' take their colour from their surroundings.  This being the case, where the provision under consideration is found in an act that is itself a component of a larger statutory scheme, the surroundings that colour the words and the scheme of the act are more expansive.  In such an instance, the application of Driedger's principle gives rise to what is described in R. v. Unibell Enterprises as 'the principle of interpretation that presumes a harmony, coherence and consistency between statutes dealing with the same subject matter."

Reapplying this approach to Board decisions, I would say to you that the words of the Prudence Decision should be read in their entire context and in their grammatical and ordinary sense, harmoniously with the scheme of the decision, the object of the Board and the intention of the original prudence Board panel.

And applying this approach to the Prudence Decision, I submit to you that the terms "controllable expenditures" or "controllable expenses," these are very well understood by the Board and parties.  They have been used for many, many years in ratemaking purposes.

And the Board describes these themselves in its regulatory instruments such as the Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook, and these are definitions that are attached to the affidavit that was prefiled of Mr. Couillard.

For example, the 2006 Rate Handbook defines --"controllable expenses" are defined as the sum of operations and maintenance, billing and collection, and administrative expenses.

And Mr. Couillard's affidavit details in clear terms that the concept of controllable expenses has been used by the Board for many years, accepted by the industry, and relied upon by Toronto Hydro in this case.

Mr. Couillard also refers to the 1999 proposed Board Staff Distribution Rate Handbook, and again, it is the same definition.

So in relying on these definitions, when Toronto Hydro reprioritized its spending in 2009 to account for the Board's Prudence Decision, and when preparing its evidence and properly adjusted 2009 audited operating costs to remove costs ineligible for inclusion in revenue requirement, to arrive at the figure of actual controllable expenditures, it was all done so in the context of what was well understood by the Board related to this term.

And Toronto Hydro submits that the Recovery Decision erred in fact by failing to apply the established and well accepted definition of "controllable expenses."

Now, why did the Recovery Decision deviate from this well understood definition?

That is described at page 8 of the Recovery Decision.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger, can I just stop you there for a second?

This is just a technicality, but I wanted to understand whether or not you just misspoke.  We picked up on the record that you just stated that the applicant, when preparing its evidence, properly adjusted the 2009 audited operating costs.  Did you mean to say that?

MR. RODGER:  I meant 2009 audited financial statements.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RODGER:  Thanks.

So at page 8 of the Recovery Decision, and this is under the "Board Findings", the decision states:
"The Board finds that the appropriate recovery amount will be determined by deducting from the 2009 actual controllable operating expenses all contact voltage costs that the Board determined in the Decision would not have arisen in the absence of the contact voltage emergency, whether permitted for recovery in the Decision or not.  In making this finding, the Board is in agreement with the staff submission that the key criterion to be used in determining which contact voltage costs should be included in controllable expenses should be whether or not the disallowed costs were caused by the contact voltage emergency, rather than whether or not they were found eligible for Z-factor recovery."


So in other words, sir, the Recovery Decision Panel - which in our view was clearly intended to be a straightforward disposition matter, to quote from the Prudence Decision - greatly expanded the scope of its proceeding to, in effect, rule on the prudence and incrementality of Toronto Hydro's 2009 controllable expenses, contrary to the expressed provisions of the Prudence Decision.

Specifically at page 9 of the Recovery Decision, the Board held that the 2.41 million of ongoing scanning costs represented an acceptable reprioritization of costs by THESL, and should not be included in the deduction.  However, the remaining 2.5 million of costs were related to the contact voltage emergency, as they included overtime costs which arose as a result of the emergency and therefore should be deducted.

So we submit that it was not within the authority or the mandate of the Recovery Decision to differentiate, as they did, between an acceptable reprioritization of costs by THESL, the $2.41 million in ongoing scanning costs, and another unacceptable reprioritization of costs, the 2.5 million in overtime costs.

So by doing so, the Recovery Decision effectively reopened Toronto Hydro's 2009 revenue requirement and the prudence of Toronto Hydro's actual 2009 OM&A spending.

So we submit that the Recovery Decision errs in law and fact by, in effect, assessing the prudence of Toronto Hydro's actual 2009 OM&A spending.

The Recovery Decision decided that some of the contact voltage spending amounted to acceptable reprioritization by management, while others did not.

And in this respect, the new causation test that the Recovery Decision imposes, we think that just simply contradicts what the Prudence Decision said.

And, again, the reason for the contradiction is because in the Prudence Decision, where the Board said, You can't have the $4.91 million as extraordinary costs because that would already have been included as part of your 2009 approved revenue requirement, in any event.

And on this point, if I could refer you back to the Prudence Decision - I'm sorry, I apologize for jumping back and forth - at page 11, again, this is the second full paragraph, half way down.  It reads:
"...[A]s Energy Probe noted, some of the remediation work undertaken during the emergency would have otherwise arisen as forced outages of secondary circuits as THESL would have responded to those events as normal trouble calls and the costs would have been reflected in its 2009 revenue requirement for OM&A.  For these reasons, the Panel reduces the requested relief by a deemed amount of $2.5 million.
"The Panel further reduces the requested relief by $2.41 million in ongoing scanning costs as suggested by Energy Probe and SEC for the reason that once the emergency event was dealt with, the costs for ongoing scanning of the system cannot be characterized as emergency related.  Once the emergency was resolved and THESL made a decision to change its operating parameters of the secondary system to an inspect and maintain model, these costs were part of normal budgetary pressures that are subject to budgetary re-alignments."


That is, the 4.91 million would have been spent as OM&A controllable expenses, in any event, so it should not be included in the extraordinary recovery bucket.

Now, the impact of the recovery panel excluding the $2.5 million from inclusion in controllable expenses, it really amounts to a double hit to Toronto Hydro.

First, the Prudence Decision denied extraordinary recovery of 4.91 million, thereby reducing our overall relief from 14.35 million down to $9.44 million.

And then the Recovery Decision denies the inclusion of $2.5 million in overtime costs as part of the 2009 controllable expenses.

And the Recovery Decision makes this finding despite the fact that the Prudence Decision denied extraordinary recovery of this amount, because the money, as I said, would already have been spent as part of Toronto Hydro's approved 2009 revenue requirement in any event.

So this amounts to the double-hit.  The combined effect of the decisions is that, firstly, Toronto Hydro cannot recover the money as part of its extraordinary relief on the one hand, and then, secondly, Toronto Hydro cannot exercise its discretion as utility management to reprioritize its 2009 spending to reflect these costs within its 2009 revenue requirement envelope on the other.

So bottom line is the 2.5 million, then, becomes -- of overtime expenses is denied absolutely through the Recovery decision.  It can't be recovered as an extraordinary amount or it can't count towards controllable expenses in 2009.

In other words, the Board is saying that Toronto Hydro's management did not meet the standard of prudence with respect to these particular expenditures.

Now, if, after the fact, findings of prudence would be the purpose of the recovery hearing, THESL would have led evidence accordingly.  However, there was no need to, because there was no hint that this would be required in the Prudence Decision.  All the prudence issues were determined in the Prudence hearing.

Now, we submit that the Recovery Decision does not result in just and reasonable rates.  Instead, the Recovery Decision arbitrarily disallows $2.5 million in overtime expenses, again, essentially ruling that these expenses were imprudent.

And Toronto Hydro submits that it was not open to the recovery panel to interfere with the reasons in the Prudence Decision for the purposes of supporting additional and retroactive findings on the cause of residual contact voltage.  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so I understand this, it seems to me what the Prudence Decision said was that the 2.5 you are not going to get as part of the extraordinary recovery, because it is subsumed in your regular budget.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And then the Recovery Decision comes along and says, Well, based on the principles established in the Prudence Decision, that overtime costs should not be -- should not be recoverable.

So is the problem not with the disallowance in the Prudence Decision and not the Recovery Decision?  Isn't the Recovery Decision consistent with the Prudence Decision in that respect?

MR. RODGER:  With respect, I don't think so, sir.

I think it is quite clear - and, again, that is why citing that one court case - when you look at the whole context of that decision, our view, it was absolutely clear, is that the prudence panel made the decision that the number approved was $9.44 million, and the only thing that adjusted it after that was:  Did Toronto Hydro spend its target OM&A, or not?  And an adjustment would be made on that basis.

There is nowhere in the decision where -- in the original Prudence Decision, where the Board said Toronto Hydro acted imprudently or these costs were not prudently incurred.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What it did say, though, is that these overtime maintenance costs should not be eligible for special recovery.  That is what it said.

MR. RODGER:  That's right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The disposition -- if I can just finish the point just for a second.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Then if the disposition is -- the disposition of the account that is intended to reflect the emergency costs, right, the fact that they have been ruled out in the Prudence Decision because of the fact that they should have been part of the normal maintenance activity, normal OM&A activity, wouldn't it be appropriate to not include them in the disposition?

MR. RODGER:  Sir --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think the problem really lies with the original -- the original finding in the Prudence Decision to the effect that they were subsumed in the OM&A.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  I think for that conclusion to be drawn, the -- Mr. Vlahos, the original panel member, would have had to in the Prudence Decision say:  X dollars are imprudent.  Period.  He never said that.  So --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  He didn't say they were imprudent.  He said they weren't included in the question of the Z-factor determination.  That is what he said.

MR. RODGER:  That's right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  He didn't say that they were imprudent.  What he said is they don't form part of the emergency recovery that the company is seeking.

MR. RODGER:  That's right.  And then that means, under our regulation, then, that the only other bucket they could go in is controllable expenditures.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  I understand that.  But it raises the question as to which decision was in error.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And, well --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If, as you say, the Recovery Decision was intended to do nothing more than deal with the disposition of the account --


MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- and are the amounts in the account the appropriate amounts, that is the position you're taking.  This was an administrative exercise.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Then the question would be:  Are the monies that are in that account appropriately in that account?

And according to the finding made in the Recovery Decision, not a prudence finding, but the finding that that $2.5 million in overtime cost ought not to be included as part of the emergency response, then it seems to me the Recovery panel was in a position where it couldn't have done anything else.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am -- you are going to have a further opportunity for reply, but just -- if we look at the buckets, as you put it, the -- there are buckets.

And the bucket that the Recovery Decision was addressing was the appropriateness of the funding within that deferral account for disposition.

And that -- and I take your point that there may be an under-recovery to the extent of the 2.5 million, because it took it out of the OM&A budget, and then not permitting you it to take it out of the other budget, but that doesn't mean that the Recovery Decision is wrong.

MR. RODGER:  It doesn't.  But if the recovery panel -- you know, the life of that application was entirely dependent on this mechanistic adjustment, which the Prudence Decision could not make because it didn't have the information at the time.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  With the consequences of that, we can address as we go forward.  But I just thought -- I think that is the architecture.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And that really is the, you know -- what we have just gone through is the error of fact and law that we spell out in our materials.

I think I can close with my in-chief comments on this motion, is that we are also raising an error in fact, as well, in the materials.

This has to do with the recovery panel adding 0.79 million to the 2.5 million for a total of 3.29 million in new contract voltage amounts disallowed in the Recovery Decision.

Our basic point here, sir, is that that 0.79 million is nowhere justified anywhere in the Recovery Decision.  There are no reasons provided for this.  I won't take you through the math; it is spelled out.  But the Board didn't subtract the 0.79 when it described this in its decision, and the bottom line is that we just don't see a basis for this at all and we think it is more of an error.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sort of a consequential --


MR. RODGER:  That's right.  That's right.

And those are our submissions, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Is there a preferred order for --


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd and I discussed this.  I agreed I would go first, if that is convenient for the Panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Panel.  Thank you.

I would like to start, I think, with just a couple of loose ends.  Normally I do these at the end, but I am worried I will forget about them, so I will deal with these off the top.

First I would like to take you to -- in the Recovery Decision, which is at tab 2 of Toronto Hydro's materials, Mr. Rodger took you to page 5 and 6 of that decision.

I may not have caught exactly what he said, but I think he suggested something to the fact that the Board panel in this case, in the Recovery Decision, had improperly delegated some amount of authority to Board Staff.

I may have misheard him or he may have misspoken, but if that is the allegation, I would like to address that head-on and suggest to you that is absolutely not the case.

But what is happening here is the Board is essentially reviewing the position of the parties, and it is showing what Board Staff thought.  In fact, if you look at page 6, the first full paragraph, it states that:

"The Board notes that no parties disputed that these were the three alternatives available to the Board."

So the Board is setting out the framework for the decision.  I suppose in this instance, it is agreeing with the submission of Board Staff in that regard, but I don't think there can be any real suggestion here that it does somehow delegate its authority to Board Staff.  It seems to me more that it -- on this point, it is agreeing with Board Staff.

Again, if that is not enough to convince you of that, obviously there was no delegation to Board Staff, because I think you will find that in other areas of the Recovery Decision, the Board panel did not, in fact, agree with the submissions of Board Staff.

So maybe Toronto Hydro didn't mean to suggest this, but to the extent they're suggesting that Staff has somehow taken a role in this Decision -- aside from making its ordinary submissions -- I would suggest to you that that is not accurate.

A second stray point.  Mr. Rodger took you to a case of the Supreme Court.  If I could find the tab...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Seven, I think, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Tab 7.  Yes, that's right.

Frankly, I don't have any cause to disagree with what this case states.  I would point out to you, of course -- he took you to page 24 and the pages following.

This case, of course, deals with statutory interpretation.  It is not about decision interpretation.

Frankly, I don't disagree that many of these points would be more or less applicable to interpreting a decision, as well.  But I thought to the extent that that hadn't been made obvious, that this decision of the Supreme Court doesn't, in fact, speak about interpreting previous decisions.  It is talking about statutory interpretation.

So this is not necessarily an apples-to-apples comparison.

So I will move to my prepared comments, if I may.

I don't intend to take very long, Members of the Panel.  We have prefiled our submissions, which aren't terribly lengthy, but even so, I don't plan to go through it word by word.

But I will provide you with an overall précis and be prepared to answer any questions you might have.

Mr. Chair, I had prepared some remarks on the threshold issue.  It occurs to me that may not be necessary, as it appears all parties are in agreement that the threshold is established here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think you can pass over that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  That will make it even shorter.

I will start, then, with the alleged error of mixed fact and law.

What I would suggest to you here –- and I don't think Toronto Hydro would really disagree with this characterization -- but essentially what Toronto Hydro is stating is that the Recovery Decision misinterpreted the Prudence Decision and didn't follow essentially the framework that had been set in that decision.

It is Staff's submission, as you will see in our prefiled remarks -- this would be on the last page of our submission -- that indeed it is our view that the Prudence Decision was, in fact, open to a fair amount of interpretation.  And whereas Toronto Hydro had one interpretation, the Board Panel came to a different interpretation, both of which arguably could be supported by a read of the Prudence Decision.  But just because the Board panel decided something different than Toronto Hydro submitted, that does not amount to a reviewable error.

I think what might be helpful would be to turn -- Mr. Rodger took you to this as well.  At tab 1, the Prudence Decision, page 6 is essentially where -- or I had a page 6.

I'm sorry, I think it is page 9.  My apologies.

Mr. Rodger took you here.  And this is -- in effect, this is the final full paragraph on that page.  This is essentially what the Prudence Decision said about how it expected -- what it expected would be reviewed in the Recovery Decision.  

I don't propose to read it to you again.  Mr. Rodger already did, but essentially what it states is you will take the controllable expenses and make sure that there is no double recovery.

So what I would ask you to do now is turn to the Recovery Decision itself, page 10.  That is at tab 2.  There is a helpful chart there that shows what the Board did, and, in fact, it shows exactly where Toronto Hydro and the Board Panel agreed and where they disagreed.

The first thing you will note is Mr. Rodger made several submissions to the extent that everyone knows what -- I shouldn't say everyone knows.  The meaning of "controllable expenses" is clear, and the Board was improper to disagree with Toronto Hydro in that regard.

If you look at line 1 on the chart, in fact there is complete agreement on what the 2009 controllable expenses are.  That is what Mr. Vlahos was discussing at page 9 of the original decision.

That number is not disputed by anybody.  What is disputed is line 2.  In fact, if you look at that chart, the only place there is an actual difference between the positions of the parties -- pardon me, the difference between Toronto Hydro and the Board Panel is with respect to this line 2.  All the other differences below flow from that change.

What that is, you will see, "contact voltage costs deducted".  The original Prudence Decision doesn't say anything about that.  It is completely silent on that.  This is an adjustment that was made by the parties.  Toronto Hydro proposed such an adjustment.  Staff in one of its options had an adjustment.  And I don't think Schools or Energy Probe disagreed with that approach either.

It was simply to recognize the fact that the controllable expenses would have included an amount for contact voltage, and in order to have a proper starting point for the comparison, you had to deduct those.  Everyone agreed to that.

But, frankly, the Prudence Decision didn't say a word about that.  As Staff has pointed out in our prefiled submission on this motion, a possible reading of that decision would be that you don't conduct that exercise; in fact, that probably had Toronto Hydro taken that view, they wouldn't even be losing the less than a million that they are.

There is nothing about deductions from the 2009 controllable expenses in the Prudence Decision.

However, all parties agreed that that is a prudent and proper thing to do.  And what this case turns on are the different means in which parties came to that -- parties and the Board panel came to that number in line 2.

So I don't think it is proper -- I shouldn't say I don't think it is proper.  I don't think it flows from the Prudence Decision there is no leeway in how this line item number 2 was calculated.  Frankly, that decision is silent on that.  It doesn't say anything about that.

So in that respect, it was open to the panel, in our submission, to come to its own conclusions regarding the appropriate reductions there.

It came to one conclusion.  Toronto Hydro came up with a different number.  But since the Prudence Decision itself doesn't even discuss those reductions, it is our submission to you that there is room for interpretation as to how that line 2 should be calculated.

A difference of opinion does not amount to a reviewable error, in our submission.

I am going to turn quickly to the second issue, which is the one we actually addressed first in our submission.  This is the alleged error of fact, the 0.79 million.

Mr. Sommerville, as you pointed out, frankly, depending on how you make a decision on the other issue, this may or may not go away.

But for what it is worth, it is our submission that there is no error in fact here and that the derivation of that 0.79 million is fairly clear, and, indeed, the reasons the Board took that into account are fairly clear.

Again, you can stay on page 10 of the Recovery Decision.  In fact, I think it is explained fairly clearly, and Toronto Hydro in fact appears to have figured out how it was done in their prefiled materials on this.

Essentially, the 0.79 million is the difference between the actual contact voltage expenses and the forecast expenses.  And if you look at the footnote number 4 on page 10, which is a footnote to this line 2 in the table, it essentially explains that.

Now, Mr. Rodger is correct that 0.79 million, that that figure doesn't actually appear here anywhere.  Frankly, it is our submission that that is just how the math works out.  That is where the 0.79 million comes from.  It is using the actuals instead of the forecast.

The decision -- the Prudence Decision I don't think specified anything in that regard.  Frankly, the Board will usually use actuals as opposed to forecasts when it has those numbers available.

So it is my suggestion to you that, first, there is nothing improper with what the Board did in that regard, and, frankly, there is nothing -- there is no mystery to how it did it either.

It is explained in the footnote 4 and in the chart itself.

So I know this is a bit of a side issue, but it is our submission to you that the derivation of that 0.79 million is fairly clear, and in fact the reasons that the Board did it are clear, as well.

Subject to any questions you may have, members of the Panel, those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Shepherd.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I did have some submissions on the threshold test, but, given the circumstances, I won't make them, except to make one comment, and that is that we agree that the threshold test is met, but we are holding our nose in the process, because we think that this, like many cases, is one in which the motion is essentially a re-argument of the previous decision.  

However, we take -- we accept that it is past that line where you should be allowed to reargue.

So we will just have two comments on the merits.

The first relates to my friend's characterization of the Prudence Decision, my friend Mr. Rodger's characterization of the Prudence Decision.

I wonder if I could take you back to that, to page 11 of the Prudence Decision, where these two amounts, 2.5 million of overtime and $2.41 million of ongoing scanning, are dealt with.  These are the two amounts that are disallowed from recovery.

What the Board Panel says - I am going to characterize what they said, rather than reading it - on the $2.5, what we read here is the primary rationale is that we are disallowing this primarily because this is the result of insufficient maintenance.  That is, in essence, a Prudence Decision.

There is another reason, and that is it is probably part of a reallocation of existing OM&A, but the primary reason is you only had to do it because you didn't maintain this in the first place.

On the 2.4 million, what we read the Board to be saying is primarily this is not incremental; that is, you reprioritized spending, but some part of it is because of the fact that it was an emergency.

So that is what we think the Prudence Decision said about these expenses.

Then we go to the Recovery Decision, and what we read on page 9 of the Recovery Decision, our understanding of the Recovery Decision, is they're saying, Look, we're going to exclude the 2.41 million of ongoing scanning costs.  We are going to include that in the controllable expenses, because it was a reprioritization, even though we understand that part of it might have actually been because it was an emergency, so part of that prudence issue.  But we are going to give you all of that.

But the 2.5 million, which was originally excluded because you didn't maintain your system, even though some of that might have been reprioritization, we are going to allow those two to offset each other.  So we are going to give you one; we are not going to give you the other one.  And the reason is because some of both of them is a problem of prudence.  It is a problem of not maintaining your system.

So we are simply going to exclude one, because if the Panel didn't do that, the result would be that, indirectly, the company would be able to recover an amount that the Board had already determined was a result of their insufficient maintenance.

So my friend argues, Well, you didn't allow us to recover it as extra money and you didn't allow us to recover it as controllable expenses.

In our view, if you expend money as a result of a mistake you made that was not a prudent management decision, i.e., you didn't maintain your system, if you expend money for that, that is not part of your normal controllable expenses.  It wouldn't be allowed in your budget in the first place, and you wouldn't be allowed to recover it later.  You shouldn't be allowed to recover it either way.

So the complaint of the company is they weren't allowed to recover it this way, and they aren't being allowed to recover it this other way, either.  Well, that is exactly the correct answer.

So that is our comments on that issue.

We do want to touch, briefly, on the 8 million, because we think that once my friends have brought the number into play here, they passed the threshold test.  So now this Panel has to deal with whether the number is right, then we think that this Panel also has to deal with whether there is anything else wrong with the number.

Our submission, which we have made in more detail in our written submissions, is that the Board panel in the Recovery Decision erred on page 5 of that decision when they said -- I will take you to it -- when they said if there was overspending in December 2009, that that is outside the scope of the Recovery Decision, the scope of their enquiry. 

In our submission, they erred in law and fact on that point, and the reason is this.  And I will do it by way of example. 

Let's suppose that -- I am not alleging that this is the case.  I am using it only as a paradigm to show the truth of the principle. 

Let's suppose that December 31st comes along.  Toronto Hydro looks and says:  We're not going to get this money.  We're not going to get any of this $9.4 million.  What are we going to do?  Well, let's look at our wish list of things we would like to spend money on -- employee bonuses, perqs, et cetera, et cetera -- because none of them will cost us a dime.  Anything we spend today up to 9.44 million is free.  So we've got a free budget.  Let's spend it.

Let's suppose that were the case.  I am not suggesting it was, but let's suppose it was the case. 

If there was evidence to that effect before the recovery panel, would it be appropriate for them to say:  Whoa, hang on a second.  That is not what the Prudence Decision intended.  They intended that your normal controllable expenses be the baseline.  Or did they intend to say to you on December 11th, 2009:  Spend this 9.4 million as fast as you can, and you will be able to recover it?

My belief is that the recovery panel should have said:   We're supposed to look at the normal controllable expenses; that should be the baseline. 

So there is no evidence that Toronto Hydro cooked the books, and nor are we alleging that.  However, they were asked to explain an anomaly in their spending.  They were ordered by the Board to provide that explanation, and they refused.

And it is our submission that the only evidence the Board then had on this point was excess spending in December 2009, and on the normal rule of evidence, you use the best evidence you have available.  The best evidence was overspending in December 2009.  Therefore that should have been deducted. 

Those are our submissions. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Rodger?

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, do you think I could have a break to prepare my reply? 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

[Board Panel Members confer] 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break until -- what, 11:05? 

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you. 

--- Recess taken at 10:48 a.m.  
 
--- On resuming at 11:09 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.

Mr. Rodger.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Further Submissions by Mr. Rodger:


MR. RODGER:  So to respond to my friends, I would like to start with this $8 million figure that Mr. Shepherd spoke to.  And, again, in our view, this is a complete red herring.

As I said in my opening remarks, what the Prudence Decision required was not some kind of forensic month-to-month review of what was going into particular accounts, but to put forward audited 2009 financial statements, which is what we did.

What happened over the course of the year is that Toronto Hydro was tracking various costs, and over the course of that year there were some -- Mr. Couillard tells me, some $15 million in costs in the deferral or variance account.

December gets the decision from the Board.  The decision says you are going to get 9.44 million.

So Toronto Hydro transferred about $6 million from the deferral account into the organization, and that changed the accounting position.  So that is why there was this bump-up at the end, because money was transferred from the deferral tracking account into the financial statements.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger, is this the first time we have heard this?

MR. RODGER:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I will pipe in, then, if --


MR. RODGER:  Unless it was dealt with in the supplementary evidence, and we would have to check that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is, in fact, the explanation that was asked for and ordered and was not given during the proceeding.  We are hearing it for the first time in reply.

MR. RODGER:  I think in response, you know, I think this all keys off of the Prudence Decision requiring the audited financial statements, and that is what Toronto Hydro adhered to.  In hindsight, it would have been helpful to explain this, probably, but that was the thinking of the company at the time.  They were focussed on the audited financial statements.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It did get a fair bit of play, Mr. Rodger.  Everyone was aware, and the Board, in its Recovery Decision, which it doesn't usually do, expressed its concern with the lack of this information and highlighted the efforts it had gone through to receive this information.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  I would also like to respond to Mr. Shepherd's comment that the fact that the Recovery Decision carved out certain costs and trying to link that with the Prudence Decision, that there was somehow a finding of imprudence here, and we reject that entirely.

I would ask you to look at page 7 of the Prudence Decision.  If you go to the third full paragraph, you will see half way in that paragraph the Board finding, where they say:
"The Panel does not find that the Applicant has acted imprudently in the circumstances that prevailed on the contact voltage issue prior to 2009 and on the information the Applicant had in its possession."


So our view is Mr. Vlahos, the panel member of the Prudence Decision, dealt with this issue head on, and the finding was there was no imprudence here at all.  So we would reject the submissions of Mr. Shepherd on this count.

Also, there was submissions about the Recovery Decision's comment about the causation, that certain costs should be excluded because they were caused by contact voltage.  And, in our view, this is exactly contrary to the Board's own rules.  For Z-factors or for extraordinary recovery, for any contact voltage expenses to qualify as extraordinary recoveries, mean they must have been controllable expenses and they must have been caused by contact voltage.

So this is contradicted in the Recovery Decision where they say, because something is caused by contact voltage, therefore, it must be excluded.

So that contradicts the whole kind of concept behind Z-factor or extraordinary recovery, in our view.

With respect to Mr. Millar's comment about the Supreme Court of Canada case, he is right.  This is about statutory interpretation.  Why we wanted to provide this case to you, because we think it is a helpful guide in having one panel interpret the decision of another, and in interpreting, more importantly, the Prudence Decision and what those findings were.

Also, Mr. Millar is correct on the submission we made about delegation.  I don't need to speak anything further about that.  If we misspoke about that, we apologize, but Mr. Millar is correct in his observations on that issue.

Again, I won't repeat the detail, but we submit that the Prudence Decision is not open to interpretation, that it was very clear what Mr. Vlahos decided and what the number was, and that this should not be reopened now.

Just a couple of comments on -- in the Recovery Decision, where Mr. Millar talked about line 2 on page 10 being the subject of the dispute here; and, that is, line 2 is the contact voltage cost deducted, the 9.44 million versus the 12.73 million.

If you go to page 11 of the Prudence Decision, that whole page describes how Mr. Vlahos came to the conclusion that 9.44 million was the appropriate number.

So our view is that, you know, it is not open for the Board Staff to say that this issue was somehow up in the air or unclarified.  Mr. Vlahos was very clear on page 11 of the Prudence Decision how he arrived at the $9.44 million number.

Finally, on the issue of this 0.79 million adjustment, again, staying with that table, again, we propose that the math does not work as Board Staff has stated.

If you look at the table, and working backwards, if you start with the $8.6 million figure and reduce the 2.5 million, you end up with 6.1 million.  So you would have to add that 0.79 million back to get to the 5.296 that the Board-approved approach comes with.

Again, by using actual numbers as opposed to forecast, again, there just is not, in our view, a justification for the Board doing this in the Recovery Decision.  So the fundamental premise is that we don't see a justification for this.

Just one final point, Mr. Chairman.  On the issue of this -- the $8 million issue and additional information, I am advised that when the request came in from Schools for further information, that the request was what Toronto Hydro believed to be quite onerous, detailed journal entries, et cetera, and Toronto Hydro balked at that request. 

That is not to say that we didn't want to be helpful and provide information, but I just wanted to comment on that, that the particular request that came from Schools, Toronto Hydro judged to be unreasonable. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is your client -- was your client aware of the -- or understand that the information that he just provided, was that within your client's knowledge at that time, that that is what the bump-up was caused by, this moving, shifting of funds from the deferral account into this account?

[Mr. Rodger confers with Mr. McLorg]

MR. RODGER:  I think to address that, Mr. Quesnelle, That Toronto Hydro advises me that around this time when this was made, there were so many moving parts on the financials, that this was one of many. 

And they were aware of the $6 million shift from the deferral account, but this was one of myriad issues that were dealt with at the time. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  I didn't want to drag this out, but I think Schools had put a bright light on this particular issue, and I think that should have taken your client's mind to this particular issue.  And if -- the information provided this morning seemed to be quite straightforward and quite a clear explanation as to what the numbers were about.  Had that been received at the time, it would have been very helpful to the Board. 

MR. RODGER:  Appreciate that.  Thank you. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have a question, Mr. Rodger. 

With respect to -- and I take your point that the, it is your view that the Recovery Decision should have been effectively an administrative exercise. 

But we note that the Recovery Decision brought the 2.41 back in, while excluding the 2.5.  It also reversed the Prudence Decision, to the effect that it included the 2.41 million.

So is not the seamless administration of the Prudence Decision -- does that not require, were we to accept that proposition, that we would take the 2.5 out and put the 2.41 back in?  Is that not the only consistent approach? 

[Mr. Rodger consults with Toronto Hydro personnel]

MR. RODGER:  Yes, Mr. Sommerville.  We think that the approach that you have -- the issues you have just flagged, we think, with respect, that that mischaracterizes the Prudence Decision and the Recovery Decision, that the 2.41 million was never brought back in or brought out.  It was simply in the original decision that said this particular set of costs will not be part of the extraordinary recoverable costs.  And therefore, in our view, it is back to the -- if I can call it -- the traditional OM&A.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  Which is where it was? 

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right. 

MR. RODGER:  So it is not a matter of bringing things in or out.  It is just a matter of how they were designated in the Prudence Decision.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Doesn't the double-recovery problem arise in that case?  Because if the 2.41 was recovered in the OM&A expense, then it ought not to be recovered in the disposition of the account related to the emergency? 

I mean, isn't the Recovery Decision -- I mean, put broadly, isn't the Recovery Decision basically directed to one -- and the Prudence Decision, to the avoidance of double recovery?

So you either get it in the OM&A or you get it in the emergency side of it, but not both.

MR. RODGER:  I think that is right, sir, and I think our point is that the mechanistic adjustment that the Prudence Decision laid out worked exactly how it should have.  If there was going -- if Toronto Hydro did underspend in its OM&A, that would have been picked up by the Recovery Decision.

In this case, it just didn't, because the amounts matched, more or less.  But the decision was implemented as the Prudence Decision anticipated. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

The Board will defer its decision.  We will come -- we will have a decision in due course, hopefully as soon as possible.

Are there any matters that parties need us to deal with before we adjourn?   Thank you very much. 

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:25 a.m. 
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